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FOREWORD

Early in my life I became aware of the fact that my family had been associated, for several
generations, with the history of Hackensack, New Jersey. The family had an accumulation of historic
photographs, maps, and books dealing with Hackensack and Bergen County. These created such an
interest in me that I delved deeper into the details of my ancestry.

I discovered that my middle name traced back to 1660 when John Mercer bought land in
Westchester County, New York, from Indian Chief Wingah. The Mercers were descendants on my
father’s side of the family.

I began writing short stories and brochures of a historic nature describing what it was like
in 1915 when, as a child, we moved to the Fairmount section of Hackensack. Then I began writing
details concerning the history of transportation, churches, social groups, financial institutions,
newspapers, police and fire departments.

Upon my retirement of 40 years of service in charge of Hackensack’s school buildings and
grounds, I was asked to write a history of the public schools. This was a five-year project and was |
followed by a two-year stint writing the 100th anniversary edition of the Reformed Church of
River Edge and a 100th apniversary edition of the Oritani Field Club.

As city historian and president of the School Historical Committee of Hackensack, I advised
the Hackensack Mayor and City Council in 1989 that 1993 would mark the 300-year anniversary of
the forming of New Barbadoes. [ was requested to write a manuscript, which later became the basis
of this book.

Many of the photographs included in this book have also been made into slides which I use
in lectures to interested groups around the county. These are also used at our school museum where
approximately 20 classes or about 500 or more students each year visit to learn the history of their
schools and their city.

The history of Hackensack has always been my personal love. Through this publication,
it can now be shared with and enjoyed by future generations of Hackensack residents.

George Mercer Scudder
Hackensack City Historian
President of the School
Historical Committee



PREFACE

Three centuries of prosperity in a small township established in 1693 are captured in this
book. Dedicated to Hackensack citizens of the past, present, and future, it is a community celebration
of a city and an acknowledgment of the heritage of its people.

It is the role of government to preserve for future examination the character, spirit,
activities, and motives of its evolution, In 1993, our ¢ity’s 300-year anniversary, this task was
an urgent calling. For too long, we have forgotten the necessity of maintaining and communicating
our history. This book is an effort to compile vital information about Hackensack and place it
squarely in the historical record.

Hackensack is a proud community of outstanding and devoted citizens. Through this
commemorative book, we are joined as guardians of past treasures, as enthusiastic cheerleaders
of all that is wonderful about our community today, and as loyal dreamers of what the future
may hold. With this book comes a warm wish to the citizens of Hackensack, and all our good
friends, of peace, joy, and continued prosperity.

Mayor John F. Zisa
City of Hackensack

9%
Mavor Ap Coven

Deputy Mayor Juanita Trammell
Councilman Mark A. Stein.
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The Hackensack Water Company has been an industry leader in planning and building
facilities to quench the thirst of a growing area, and it is constantly seeking new technologies to
maintain superior water quality.

Throughout its 125-year history, Hackensack Water has continued to meet or surpass all
state or federal requirements for water quality. Today the company serves three quarters of a million
people in 60 communities in Bergen and Hudson counties. Its four reservoirs — Oradell, Woodcliff
Lake, Lake Tappan, and Lake DeForest — have a combined capacity of 14 billion gallons. The company
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United Water has paid uninterrupted cash dividends on its common stock since 1886, one of the
longest dividend payment records on the NYSE.

Donald L. Coxvelt

Hackensack Water Company
Alfred Sanzari is the visionary founder of the real estate organization Alfred Sanzari

Enterprises of Hackensack. The third of six sons born to parents who worked in a Bogota paper
factory and a Paterson silk mill, Sanzari epitomizes the American Dream.

Sanzari has played a leading role in New Jersey’s real estate hoom. Today, the
company that bears his name owns and manages a portfolio of properties in the residential,
commercial, industrial, and hospitality fields. Some of the most notable are the Court
Plaza Complex across from the Bergen County Courthouse and the Glenpointe Complex
in Teaneck, both of which have been developed by the firm.

Sanzari’s love for his community is evidenced through the many civic and industry
organizations with which he is affiliated in his hometown of Hackensack and in New Jersey,
including the Board of Governors of Hackensack Medical Center and the Board of
Commissioners of the Palisades Interstate Park Commission.

Alfred Sanzari
Chairman of the Board
Alfred Sanzari Enterprises



CHAPTER |

ACKENSACK'S
PROUD HERITAGE



" esidents of Hackensack today view their city as one of modern
highways, bustling shopping malls, residential neighborhoods,
Juxury high-rise apartment buildings, and the county seat of Bergen. But more than 300 years ago, the
Hackensack River was a sustaining force for the thriving Lenni Lenape Indian community which lived
along its banks. Known as “the original people,” the Lenni Lenapes were made up of roving tribes who
built their major northern settlements along the Overpeck Creek, near what is currently Leonia’s Fort
Lee Road, and at Communipaw, in what is now Jersey City.

Inhabiting Bergen County was the Achkinheshcky tribe, a name from which
“Hackensack” is derived. Peaceful and industrious, the Hackensacks formed villages, each serving as
its own government. Foreshadowing what is the cornerstone of American government, the Hackensacks
practiced a democracy whereby all tribe members — including women — were given the authority to
voice opinions and contribute to decision-making. A chief and several counselors formed the leadership
and were responsible for final resolutions.

The first European settlers to arrive in Bergen County were Dutch prospectors under
the direction of the Dutch West India Company. After Henry Hudson sailed up the Hudson River and
claimed the land west of it for the Netherlands, the Dutch arrived to trade with the Hackensack Indians
for furs, which would sell for a high price in Europe. In 1614, the Netherlands claimed exclusive rights
to all traffic on the Hudson River, naming this territory New Netherlands.

In 1660 the Dutch built their first permanent settlement, a village named Bergen, on
lands now known as Jersey City Heights. It is believed that Bergen received its name from Bergen
Op Zoom, a town on the River Scheldt in the Netherlands.

The Dutch settlers were shrewd, industrious traders and businessmen, but able to
match them wit-for-wit was Oratam, chief of the Hackensack tribe. A prudent and wise leader, he
was esteemed by not only his fellow Indians but by the Dutch leaders as well.

Throughout his 90 years of life, Oratam utilized his considerable influence and was
responsible for many astute negotiations, bringing peace among the Hackensacks and the first European
settlers in a treaty signed by the Indians, Dutch, and English in 1690. Oratam now appears on the offi-

Chief Oratam, chief of

the Hackensack tribe,
was Hackensack's first
notable leader. During
the 1600s, Oratam was
among the first to
witness the arrival of
the European settlers
to Hackensack. The
official seal of Hack-
ensack’s government is
a rendering of Oratam.
In 1921, this bronze
bust of Oratam was
presented by sculptor
John Ettl to the Bergen
County Historical
Society. Photograph
courtesy of George M.

Scudder.






The next major group of Europeans to settle into what was then known as New
Netherlands was the British, arriving in the mid-1600s. By 1664, the British began their conquest of
New Netherlands, and after a brief struggle, the territory was ceded to Great Britain by the Netherlands.
Also in 1664, Great Britain’s King Charles Il made a generous grant to his brother James, Duke of
York, deeding him the large tract of land that is today New Jersey. Following the tradition of the times,
the Duke of York granted the land to two Englishmen: Lord John Berkeley and Sir George Carteret.
In “Grants and Concessions,” — sometimes known as the Magna Carta of New Jersey — Berkeley and
Carteret promised religious freedom, land ownership, the right of assembly, and various other cjvil
rights that are still in effect today.

In 1667, the Legislative Council of the Assembly, a form of government established by
the British in 1664, divided the land into two sections: East Jersey and West Jersey. In 1682 it cre-
ated four counties in East Jersey: Bergen, Essex, Middlesex, and Monmouth. Bergen County’s bound-

The Township of

New Barbadoes,
Hackensack’s munici-
pal predecessor, was
established in 1693.
From 1716 to 1871,
dozens of new towns
were carved from New
Barbadoes, leaving only
a 4-square-mile tract
that today is known as
Hackensack. Reprinted
with permission of The Record

of Hackensack, N.J,
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_ aries ran from thzyv York state line south to Newark and Newark Bay. its western and eastern

boundaries weregBrmed by the Hackensack and the Hudson Rivers. In 1709, the western boundary
was extended to the Passaic River.

In 1668, a land grant of more than 5,000 acres — which included the lands between
the Hackensack and Passaic Rivers — was made to planters from the West Indies island of Barbadoes.
The legacy they left was to name this territory New Barbadoes Township in 1693, In the same year,
the Village of Hackensack was formed within the Township of New Barbadoes. At the time of its estab-
lishment, the Village of Hackensack included all lands between the Hackensack and Hudson Rivers,
east of where it is today.

In 1699, Barbadian planter Captain John Berry received the land in which today is
located most of Hackensack. One of Captain Berry’s most cherished land donations to the people of
Hackensack was the area known as The Green, which provided the land for the construction in 1696
of the Dutch Reformed Church.

By 1775, Hackensack — which in 1709 had become the county seat of Bergen —
witnessed sharp conflicts and embittered feelings as members of the Whig and Tory parties took decided
stands for and against independence from Great Britain.

As early as April 1775, after reports that fighting had broken out at Lexington and
Concord in Massachugsetts, many Hackensack area residents enlisted in the Jersey Line of the Continental
Army. The spectacle of the British redcoats shooting American farmers convinced the majority that
American arms must answer Great Britain’s ministerial arrogance.

In the summer of 1776, the British moved the war south from New England to New
York, Between June 29 and July 2, the British sailed into New York Harbor laden with redeoats who
disembarked into encampments on Staten Island. By the end of August, Great Britain’s General William
Howe had opened attack and had taken Long Island from American forces. Within two weeks, the
Americans were driven out of lower Manhattan,

The entire Hackensack Valley was exposed to great danger. Threatened by a possible
British attack in mid-November, General George Washington and Continental Army troops from New
Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Maryland abandoned their camp at White Plains, New York, and crossed

The First Dutch
Reformed Church
building, fondly called
The Old Church on the
Green, bears the names
of many of its founders,
including the Demarest
family. Far left: The
Demarest family stone.
Left: The Brinkerhoff
Homestead on Essex
Street circa 1896, one of
the more prominent
houses of the era.
Demarest stone reprinted
from the First Reformed
Church anniversary booklet.
The Brinkerhoff House
reprinted from Hackensack

Nlustrated.
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the Hudson River, encamping in Hackensack. Washington and his staff established headquarters at
the Mansion House, located at the southern corner of Main Street and Washington Place, the home
of Peter Zabriskie. Many houses in Hackensack sheltered refugees who had sneaked out of New York
City when the British took over.

At Fort Lee, General Nathaniel Greene prevented the British from crossing the Hudson
River, aided by the sheer walls of the Palisades, which formed an almost impassable precipice for 10
miles south and 20 miles north. On November 16, the British overtook Fort Washington. General
Washington lost 2,000 men, and he sadly refurned to Hackensack to plot new defenses and to plan a
retreat from northern New Jersey.

Throughout the next several days the Revolutionary War took its toll on Hackensack
and other parts of Bergen County. On November 20 at daybreak, the British crossed the Hudson, land-
ing at Closter Dock in what is now Cresskill. They were eventually able to capture an empty Fort Lee
after the Americans had retreated. Although Lord Cornwallis and the British appeared to be close to
victory, the Continental Army was able to stay one step ahead of them by crossing the Hackensack
River at New Bridge in front of the Ackerman-Zabriskie-Von Steuben House, then located in Hackensack
(now River Edge).

On November 21, Washington abandoned his headquarters at the Mansion House
and crossed the Passaic River at the Acquackanonk Bridge (into what is now Passaic). At noon the next
day, the British took possession of Hackengack. Today, one can trace the trail of both British and American
troops via markers throughout the area identifying military routes.

During the next several years as the Revolutionary War raged on in points south, the
British raided Bergen County on various occasions, burning the Hackensack eourthouse in 1780. Patriots
of the local militia kept up a stiff resistance, farming during the day and keeping sentinel watch through-
out the night.

Far left: The Mansion
House, built in 1751,
served as the headquar-
ters for General George
Washington during the
Revolutionary War.
Left: In 1780, when
General Washington's
friend General Enoch
Poor passed away in
Hackensack, he was
laid to rest at the
Westervelt House and
later buried at the Old
Church on the Green.
Bottom left: General

Enoch Poor monument

Mansion House photograph
courtesy of Johnson Free
Public Library, Hackensack,
N.J: the Westervelt House,

George M. Scudder; Poor's

Hackensack, N.J.
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The year 1780 also marked the death of the Continental Army’s Brigadier General
Enoch Poor — a close friend and confidant of General Washington — who died in Hackensack after
serving in New Hampshire under the command of the Marquis de Lafayette. He was laid to rest at the
Westervelt House on Main and Ward Streets and was buried with honors at the Old Church on the
Green, with Washington and Lafayette in attendance. General Poor is memorialized with a monument,
that still stands adjacent to The Green.

Despite the survender of Lord Cornwallis and the British Army at Yorktown, Virginia,
in 1781, the British still held New York City and some local attacks occurred. Pillaging in Hackensack
continued to be launched from parts of the city and Staten Island throughout the next two years.

Finally, in 1783 the Treaty of Paris was signed and the war was declared over. In
Noverber of that year, General Washington returned to Hackensack and addressed the militia, thank-
ing them for their cooperation and layalty.

Now that the war was officially over and peace returned, the people of Hackensack
were able to look toward the future and to begin establishing the township’s notable history as a desir-
able place in which to live, work, and establish families and businesses.

Hackensack is home

to one of the oldest
churches in New
Jersey, the First Dutch
Reformed Church.

The church was
dedicated on November
15, 1696, on land located
on The Green. Because
of its location, it
became affectionately
known as the Old
Church on the Green.

Photograph courtesy of

George M. Scudder.
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Old Ladies Home, also known as The Residence, was a non-
profit home for aging women founded in 1896 by three women from the Christian
Reformed Church. The first Residence was established in a house located at
the corner of State and Passaic Streets. In 1901, it moved to 266 Passaic Street,

at the corner of Clarendon P

a new building which was designed espe-
cially for its 28 residents. The building was razed in the early 1990s. Photograph

courtesy of the Johnson Free Public Library.
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CHAPTER 2

‘ OR THE PROPLE,
BY THE PROPLE



" n November 8,1921, a proud Hackensack citizenry affirmed its independence
from the past and approved a referendum to change its name from the
Township of New Barbadoes to the City of Hackensack — a highlight in a long history of a government
that is conducted for the people and by the people.

The Township of New Barbadoes was established in 1693 and located in what is
now known as Essex County. It included lands between the Passaic and Hackensack Rivers that extended
north to New York state. In 1709, the Townghip of New Barbadoes became part of Bergen County,
and it was named the county seat.

Townships of that era were not self-governing. Instead, government functions were
administered at the state level through the General Assembly, and at the county level through the
Board of Justices and Frecholders, Voters elected two citizens from each county to represent their inter-
ests in the Assembly, a procedure that foreshadows today’s New Jersey Legislature.

In 1856, the General Assembly passed an act that allowed townships to create improve-
ment commissions to repair public properties, and the Township of New Barbadoes formed the Hackensack
Improvement Commission. In 1868, legislation was passed expanding the role of improvement com-
missions and requiring the election of commissioners. All local governing powers were transferred to
the commission. The Hackensack Improvement Commission was incorporated in 1868 and was made
up of five commissioners firom the city’s five wards to serve three-year terms; a president and a com-
missioner were elected at-large.

Throughout this period, Bergen County townships were divided into smaller town-
ships and boroughs. By the mid-1890s, the Township of New Barbadoes, which contained the Village
of Hackensack, occupied a fraction of its original space. On March 30, 1896, by state law, the Village
of Hackensack and the Township of New Barbadoes became one entity. On November 8, 1921, a
township referendum was approved calling for the adoption of the City of Hackensack as the munici-
pality’s official name. Although there was this name change, government powers remained with the
Hackensack Improvement Commission until 1933 — the year another public referendum altered the
course of Hackensack's history.

On May 23, 1933, by a vote of 3,185 to 2,409, Hackensack approved a referendum that










changed the form of government to a strong municipal managers plan, and a new city council was
elected on June 20, 1933. Those serving on this first council were Robert A. Altschuler, William J, Eck,
Ralph F. de Clairmont, Ernst A. Korn, and Charles Orth. At the inaugural meeting of July 18, 1933,
Robert A. Altschuler was unanimously selected to serve as the city’s first mayor under this plan,

Hackensack continues to operate under the strong municipal managers plan, one of
47 municipalities in New Jersey to do so. Five city council members are elected at-large to a four-year
term, and the newly inangurated city council selects the mayor. Since it is 8 nonpartisan form of gov-
ernment, political affiliations are not a matter of public record. A professional city manager is hired
to direct the daily operations of government, which further protects the government from political influ-
ences. Today, government activities are organized under 15 departments and supported by a dedicated
staff of approximately 425 individuals.

Police and fire departments began to form throughout New Jersey after 1871, the year
the state Legislature passed a law permitting local governments to organize these services. Hackensack’s
first police department formed in 1896. It operated out of borrowed space from the firehouse at 24
Mercer Street. The department consisted of Cornelius Van Blarcom, Michael Breen, Martin O'Shea,
and Al Sachtleben.

In 1958, the Police Departiment moved to newly constructed headquarters at 225 State
Street, adjacent o City Hall. Today, the Hackensack Police Department, among the Jargest in New
Jersey, offers a full complement of vital police services. The depattment is composed of more than 100
police and civilian personnel.

In 1864, after huge fires ravaged the city, a group of citizens formed a volunteer fire
company. Hackensack's first official volunteer fire department, however, was not organized until 1871,
and operated until 1914 when it was replaced with a paid fire department which included Joseph
Mercier, William Bahlburg, Michael Wygant, and William Henry Jackson.

The fire department moved to its current headquarters at 205 State Street in 1921.
Today, it has four stations in the city. One hundred officers and firefighters respond to more than 3,000
fire-related incidents and 2,500 ambulance calls annually.

The Hackensack Volunteer Ambulance Corps was established in 1948 to provide the

Prior to the
invention of motor
cars, “horse” power
was used to transport
firefighters to a blaze.
Left: Dolly and Daisy
in 1916 with a Union
Hose Co. No. 4 five-
fighter. Photograph and
Bergen County Courthouse
postcard courtesy of

{ieorge M. Scudder.
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fire department with relief during evening and weekend hours. It is made up of 35 certified emergency
medical technicians who volunteer evenings, 6 p.m. to 6 a.m., and weekends round-the-clock to provide
expert medical care.

If education is the greatest contribution a community can make to its youth, then
Hackensack gets high marks. Hackensack’s commoitment to quality education dates back to 1769, the
year the Washington Academy, later known as the Washington Institute, was opened at the northwest
corner of Main and Warren Streets by Peter Wilson, a member of the Assembly of New Jersey. As the
city’s first school, it was a center for knowledge and intellectual growth, In 1869, the institute was made
a public school. Foresight was also exercised when, in 1897, the city opened Bergen County’s first four-
year high school at First and High Streets. It was attended by students from the entire Bergen County
region. Other prominent schools of the era included the Newman School for bays, located at Essex Street
and Polifly Road, which was attended by F. Scott Fitzgerald, and the Hackensack Academy, located
at the nortbwest corner of State Street and Central Avenue. Both schools were private.

In 1894, the state government required every municipality to establish a board of edu-

Left: Bergen County’s

first four-year high

Streets in Hackensack.

school’s enrollment
grew to 263 students
from throughout
Bergen County. To

facilitate demand,

First and Beech Streets.
During the next decade, |
the school would |

expand several times to |

courtesy of George M.

Seudder.






Hackexsack Pustic Scroors

Elementary Schools
Pre-Kindergarten to grade 5
Fairmount School

Fanny Meyer Hillers School
Jackson Avenue School
Nellie K. Parker School

circa 1900
circa 1927
circa 1922 -
circa 1975

Hackensack Middle School circa 1912

circa 1918

Hackensack High School

Carl E. Padovano

Adult Education Center circa 1927

cation, and, in the same year, the Hackensack Board of Education was incorporated. George W. Wheeler
was the first hoard president. Until 1991 members of the board of education were appointed by the
city’s mayor. Once again, the power of democracy surfaced and changed long-standing traditions. In
November 1990, city voters approved a referendum by a vote of 3,831 to 1,821 requiring the election
of a board of education. The election was conducted on January 15, 1991,

Today, the Hackensack public school system serves more than 4,000 students and is
made up of four elementary schools, one middle achool, and one high school. The city’s Adult Education
Center, one of the largest in Bergen County, serves an average of 6,000 adults a year. An important
offering is the evening school for the foreign-born, established in 1917. The Johnson Free Public Library
is another community asset. It is named after a prominent citizen, State Senator Williarn M. Johnson,
who donated land for, and funded the construction of, the city’s first library. The Johnson Free Public
Library was opened on October 5, 1901, Today, it offers more than 150,000 volumes and 450 periodical
subscriptions and has a branch library at 39 Broadway.

The City of Hackensack
did niot have an official
city hall unti] 1922
when it moved to 346
State Street, the old
headquarters of the
Liberty Hose and
Steamer Co, #1,

In 1933, the city
purchased the North
Jersey Title Insurance
Company building at
65 Central Avenue.
Photograph courtesy of the
Hackensack Police

Department.
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Oz October 21, 1874, Hackensack’s residents gathered at the
fountain on The Green to witness a momentous occasion — the flow of running
water from Hackensack Water Company’s newly installed pipelines. photograph of

The Green, circa 1896, reprinted from Hackensack Hiustrated.
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CHAPTER 3

N EPICENTER FOR
BUSINESS AND INDUSTR




our hundred years ago, long before Hackensack’s first streets were planned

and established, the Hackensack Indians cleared and carved out their own
dirt roads. Many of Bergen County’s modern thoroughfares, such as Kinderkamack Road, follow the
paths of these ancient Indian routes. The Hackensacks also used the major waterways of their settle-
ments — the Hackensack River, Overpeck Creek, and the Saddle River — for fishing, hunting, and
trading with the early European settlers.

Within the Village of Hackensack, the earliest roads were Front and Back Streets (now
Main and State, respectively), King’'s Road (now Essex Street), and Passaic Street. One of the most
important was Polifly Road, whose route ran from Newark along the Passaic River in the south to
the Hackensack River in the north. The roads were rough and uneven, and residents traveled on horse-
back or by horsedrawn wagons.

In 1715, a ferry landing was established at a site outside the center of town, enabling
small vessels to use the Bergen County waterways to enhance trade. In 1764, the first inter-county
public transportation system was established: the Paulus Hook ferry that left from what is now Jersey
City and crossed the Hudson River into Manhattan. This advance opened up the entire region to greater
commercial efforts.

The opening of a ferry route from Hoboken to New York City shortly afterward cre-
ated the need for stagecoach lines to bring passengers to the ferries. In 1768, Hackensack resident
Andrew Van Buskirk created a stagecoach line that ran from New Bridge to Paulus Hook two times
each week. Competition became fierce as many other lines popped up seemingly overnight to transport
the region’s passengers, mail, and farm produce destined for sale in New York City. Soon, Hackensack's
stagecoach lines — which used the inns and taverns as their terminals — included stops at Ridgewood,
Englewood, Rutherford, Paterson, Newark, Hoboken, New York City, and points north, such as Goshen
and Albany.

By 1775, trade was flourishing in the Hackensack area. Pettiaugers — two-masted,
flat-bottomed schooners — sailed up and down the Hackensack River, carrying farm produce to New
York City and merchandise back to the farms and mines of northern New Jersey. Hackensack’s agri-
cultural industry bloomed as it soon became famous for its strawberry crops, melons., and celery.

Hackensack’s proximity
to the Hackensack
River, a major trans-
portation link during
the 1700s and 1800s,
made it an ideal mececa
for light industry and
manufacturing busi-
nesses. The 8. Goldberg
Co., Inc. slipper factory
opened in 1931 at South
River Street, where it
continues to thrive
today producing more
than 5 million pairs of
slippers each year.
Photograph courtesy of

5. Goldberg Co., Inc.









In 1802, the state permitted turnpike companies to become organized and licensed,
with the provision that all monies collected be used to build new roads and refurbish old ones, This
effort resulted in the construction by the Bergen Turnpike Company of a turnpike from Hackensack to
Hoboken that year, and one to Jersey City two years later. Others followed — to Albany in 1805, to
Paterson in 1815, and to Fort Lee in 1828 — establishing Hackensack as a terminus of travel through-
out northern New Jersey and into New York state. These advances opened up new markets for
Hackensack’s successful agricultural industry, For more than 100 years the turnpikes flourished, until
1915 when the toll gates were abolished.

Transportation advances in the late 18th century enabled Hackensack to sell and
transport the natural resources that were harvested from the Hackensack River. Clay from the river’s
banks was used to mold pottery, create bricks, and was used in constructing sandstone homes and plas-
ter walls.

In the 17908, entrepreneur Elizabeth Sutliff, who was born to black slaves, began sup-
plying raw clay to potteries in Newark and Jersey City. In the 1870s, three brothers opened a brick-
yard in Little Ferry and bought Sutliff"s property. By 1882, the Mehrhof Brickmaking Works was
producing more than two million bricks each year. One of the most. famous compenies was the Hackensack
Brick Company (HBC) which initialized each brick it produced. Fleets of brick schooners and later
steam-powered harges travelled the Hackensack River, facilitating the sale of bricks to all parts of
the nation. During the next 50 years, the brick industry along the Hackensack River was the second
largest in the nation and a major source of employment for many of the area’s residents.

The arrival of the “Iron Horses” and railroads in the mid-1800s changed Hackensaek
from primarily a farming and manufacturing village to a bustling center of commerce.

In 1850, Thomas Demarest and other local men built the Northern Valley Railroad,
connecting points of Bergen County with a line that ran from New York City to Suffern. Twenty
years later, the New Jersey Midland Company (which later became the Susquehanna Railroad) opened
two stations in Hackensack — at Main and Mercer Streets and Progpect Avenue — which were stops
on its east-west line that ran from Jersey City to Stroudsburg, Pennsylvania. At about the same
time, the Hackensack and New York Railroad Company extended their north-south rails, opening four

The trolley system
connected New Jersey'’s
first suburbanites with
New York City. Known
as the Hudson River
line, it ran from the
Hudson River though
Leonia, Bogota, and
Hackensack, and, then
divided. One branch
continued to Newark,
the other to Paterson.
The railroad system,
which first ran through
Hackensack in 1872,
connected the city with
the nation's Northeast
region, Left: The Essex
Street railroad station
was one of four located
in Hackensack.
Photographs courtesy of

George M. Scudder.
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stations in Hackensack: Essex Street, Central Avenue, Anderson Street, and Fairmount.

Although Hackensack was never a manufacturing giant in the same way other east-
em seaboard cities such as Paterson were, dependable rail travel caused several major industries to
open in the city in the late 1800s and early 1900s. Some of the most profitable were: the Givernaud
Brothers silk-weaving plants, the Thomas Jewelry Manufacturing Company, S. Goldberg Co., Inc. slip-
per factory, and the William Campbell & Coropany’s wallpaper factory, which later became the site of
Packard’s, ’

The opening of the George Washington Bridge in 1931 created numerous business
and residential growth opportunities for Bergen County by improving access to New York City. Until
the 1950s, Hackensack’s Main Street was one of the premier shopping districts in northern New Jersey.
Anchored by two major department stores — Sears Roebuck and Co. and Arnold Constable — Main
Street offered a shopping variety that rivaled all others and caused traffic jams for miles.

But the construction of the Garden State Plaza and the Bergen Mall in the late 1950s,
the opening of Alexander’s and Korvette’s on Route 4 in the 19608, and the erection of Paramus Park
and the Fashion Center on Route 17 in the 1970s, caused the decline of Hackensack’s Main Street. A,
shopping district set within a city simply could not compete with the hundreds of stores and convenient
parking facilities that the suburban malls offered.

Hackensack did profit from the last major shopping mall to be built along Route 4.
In 1974, Riverside Square opened on a tract of land at the intersection of Route 4 and Hackensack
Avenue, bringing in needed ratables and returning prestigious stores to the city.

In the 1970s, the city’s infrastructure was addressed. The widening of Polifly Road
and Essex Street was completed, a critical component of future growth plans.

Another major revitalization project involved the Court Street area and occurred
between 1976 and the 1980s when the Center City Complex Redevelopment plan was implemented.
1t brought about the construction of Court Plaza, a 325,000-square-foot building across from the
courthouse, the construction and reconstruction of private and public buildings, a road extension to
Atlantic Street, and the upgrading of Main Street through the installation of new lights, the planting

The William Campbell
and Co. wallpaper
factory (now Packard's)
cirea 1920. Hackens-
ack’s Main Street
flourished with an
abundance of fine
shops and services.
Right: Henry
Zellweger's inn on
upper Main Street circa
1896. Inset: a grocery
store at 67 Main Street
circa 1910. Camphell Co.
and grocery store photographs
courtesy of George M.
Scudder, Zellweger photo-
graph reprinted from

Hackensack Hlustrated.









of trees, and the provision of other amenities. This huge project has revitalized the heart of the city.
In 1989, the Atlantic Street parking garage was opened, adding 433 parking spaces to the city’s center.

During the 1980s there was a major overhaul of the city’s sewer system at two River
Street locations. In 1992, a $4 million flood control project, directed at River Street, was completed.
In 1993, the city began a $1 million parks improvement and expansion project.

All energies are now focused on the revitalization of Hackensack’s 65 acres of river-
front properties, once one of Hackensack’s most cherished assets. Restoring it to its former state is
becoming a reality with the arrival of the Price Club in 1994. Planning studies to determine how to best
renew this area are currently being prepared. A central element in the planning process is the con-
struction of a riverfront walkway.

As Hackensack celebrates the 300-year anniversary of its founding, its excellent loca-
tion in the midst of a comprehensive transportation system allows the city to anticipate a successful
comeback. Four major highways provide direct access to Hackensack’s 4.6 square miles: routes 4, 17,
46, and 80. It is traversed by the New York-Susquehanna & Western and New Jersey Transit railways.
Some 26 bus routes come into Hackensack. The city boasts a population of 37,000, but these mumbers
swell to 100,000 during the day as people from the region come to Hackensack to work at its many pub-
lie, nonprofit, and private sector jobs.
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Y}Ze Hackensack House, circa 1896, was among the more promi-

nent inns of the era. It was located on the site of Bergen County’s courthouse.

Photograph courtesy of Johnson Free Public Library.
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ST MM ackensack

ehind every great city there are great people accomplishing
wondrous things, continually reshaping a community in sig-
nificant ways. 'To Hackensack, people from all over the world have come. This blending of cultures is
the foundation on which Hackensack was formed, and it is the basis on which it will grow and prosper.

Immigration to the City of Hackensack is an ongoing phenomenon. The first set-
tlers who arrived to the area in the 17th century were from England, Scotland, the Netherlands, France,
and several Scandinavian countries, The Jersey Dutch, as they were collectively called, were respon-
gible for the early development of the city — their legacy still evident today.

For example, a prominent developer of the period, G.N. Zingsem, was the force behind
the establishment of the Fairmount neighborhood. Zingsem was also an architect who designed the
Fairmont Park in Philadelphia. He grew trees here in Hackensack and sold them to Philadelphia for
planting in the park. Thus, the area was called Fairmount and many of the streets were named after
trees.

Records show that free and slave African-Americans lived in Hackensack as far
back as the Iate 1600s, New Jersey, the second largest slave state in the North, allowed the harsh treat-
ment of slaves, including unfair trials with punishments ranging from 100 lashes to hangings.

In 1714, slave courts were set up to try capital crimes. Between 1726 and 1737, Bergen
County had the lowest population in East Jersey, but the largest slave population. In 1804, the
township records showed the birth of 155 African-American slave children, a law was passed that called
for the gradual release of slaves o freedom. But discrimination would continne and many legal free-
doms were not granted until the Civil War was won and the 13th amendment was passed in 1865.

The second wave of immigrants to Hackensack occurred between 1890 and 1920 when
people arrived from Germany, Italy, Ireland, Poland, Russia, and Greece. Immigrants typically fled
harsh times in their native lands in search of a golden future in the United States. This was also the
cage with Southemn African-Americans who arrived in Hackensack in the 1920s to escape the harsh-

and violence of racism and discrimination that was prevalent throughout the South.

African-Americans came to the region searching for meaningful employment. Most
settled in Englewood, Hackensack, and Teaneck. Since these areas were not industrial centers, many

There are many
individuals who have
contributed to what is
today an outstanding
Hackensack school
system. Dr. Nelson Haas
and Nellie K. Morrow
Parker are two individ-
uals who stand out.
Left: Dr. Haas, Hack-
ensack’s first public
school system superin-
tendent, oversaw the
expansion of the school
system during the late
1800s. Right: Nellie K.
Morrow Parker, the
first African-American
educator in northern
New Jersey, opened up
the minds and hearts of
a community. Haas photo-
graph courtesy of George M.
Scudder. Parker photograph
courtesy of Nellie K. Parker

School.
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Poput.ariox Growri iv HACKENSACK

1880 4,248
1890 6,004
1900 9443
1910 14,050
1920 | 17,667
1930 924,568
1940 26,279
1950 29,219
1960 30,521
1970 36,008
1980 36,039
1990 37,049

Source: U.S. Burean of the Census

Hackensack settlers found employment in the homes of the affluent eitizens living along Hackensack’s
Summit and Prospect Avenues, Anderson and upper Union Streets, and Clinton Place. Neighborhoods
formed in the valley below Hackensack’s west hill, just west of the railroad in the city’s center.

European immigrants established their own neighborhoods. The Germans settled
along Hudson Street; the Irish on Union Street between Essex Street and the railroad (an area then
known as Little Dublin); the Polish established neighborhoods located in the most southern area of
town; and the Italians lived north of Vreeland Avenue to Essex Street. By 1920, one-fifth of Hackensack’s
population was foreign-born,

The year 1870 was recorded as the beginning of a building boom that continued
until World War I, and a thriving, bustling commercial and residential nucleus emerged. The railroads
and trolley lines, which began in Hackensack in 1889, opened the township up to a new population:
middle-class commuters to New York City and wealthy families who built many of the city’s grand
homes. Where once it was perceived as a small city, Hackensack was now viewed as affording a sub-
urban lifestyle for those who did not wish to live in Manhattan. The city’s population increased more
than one-third between 1920 and 1930.

During the two decades that followed the opening of the George Washington Bridge
in 1931, Hackensack experienced an outward flight of its wealthy citizens to more spacious parts of
Bergen County. But in 1956, city planners called for the renewal and revitalization of some declining
areas of Hackensack. Deteriorating homes were replaced with office buildings, and schools and other



Between 1900 and 1950,
Hackensack's popula
tion more than tripled
and to the city arrived
people from all over

the world. The largest

immigration came from

a il Ay A Foet
mouthern Alrican-
Americans, Spiritual,

social, and political
enrichment was typi
cally found in church
congregations. Right:
rick Memorial A.M.I

L10n Uhuren school

students circa 194§

lemorial Zion Church,

public facilities were modernized. The city rezoned the areas surrounding Prospect Avenue and Summit

Avenue to allow the construction of luxury high-rise apartments, offering residents the convenience
of city-living coupled with the comfort of suburbia. The Housing Authority introduced assisted-
housing programs which were continually expanded to reach its current status of 144 family and 310
senior units.

During this period and up until the civil rights movement of the 1950s and 1960s,
Hackensack residents lived in a segregated society. African-Americans were not permitted burial
in Hackensack, but were forced to go to the Little Ferry Free Colored Cemetery known today as the
Gethsemane Cemetery. Community discord resulted in 1884 when the Hackensack Cemetery trustees
refused to bury Hackensack resident Samuel Bass. A state law was passed shorily thereafter pro-
hibiting discrimination against African-Americans by cemetery companies. Schools were also segre-
gated and African-Americans attended School Number 5, an elementary school located in the former
high school at First and High Streets.

Segregation forced the African-American community to rely on itself for essential ser-
vices. Among those contributing greatly to the health and welfare of their people were Dr. George
Kingslow and Dr. Powell, among the first African-American physicians of Hackensack, and Dr. Askew,
the first African-American dentist. T. B. James was a leading political figure who, because he was self-
employed, could risk challenging the establishment. Spiritual guidance and social recreation were pro-
vided by the church, a place for community pride and ownership. The ministers offered leadership
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:l’[hose who have lost

| their lives in the line of
duty are memorialized
in Hackensack. The
Hackensack Fallen
Firefighters monument,
{ located in Fairmount

|

| Park, is a tribute to

| Captain Richard L.

| Williams, Lieutenaut

| Richard R. Reinhagen,
'FueﬁghtersWﬂliamR.
Erejsa, Leonard

| Radumski, and Stephen
| H. Ennis, who lost their
| lives battling afire at a
car dealership on July
1, 1988. The monument
is dedicated to their
memory. Pholograph cour-
tesy of the Hackermack Fire

Department.

that often extended beyond religion to socio-economie causes. In the 1950s and early 1960s, another
influx of southern African-Americans came to Hackensack. In 1965, Hackensack residents elected its
first African-American councilman, Herbert Leverett.

One public school carries on the memory of a great influential African-American
Hackensack family: the Morrows. The Morrow family came to Hackensack in 1874 and worked to
improve life for African-American residents. John Morrow was a prominent African-American minis-
ter. His daughter, Nellie K. Morrow Parker, for whom the school is named, became northem New Jersey's
first African-American educator in 1922. Although there was great opposition, including a Ku Klux
Klan torch parade, she prevailed.

John’s eldest son, Eugene, was the second African-American to graduate from
Hackensack High School, in the year 1917. Another son, E. Frederick Morrow, was President
Eisenhower’s executive assistant — the first African-American in the history of the United States to
achieve this position. He also wrote a series of autobiographical books. His brother, John Howard, was
a renowned linguist and served as the United States Ambassador to Guinea.

Latino individuals dominated immigration in the 19605 and 1970s. Mexicans, Puerto
Ricans, Cubans, Dominicans, and South and Central Americans arrived in record numbers. Today,
Latino residents represent the third largest group in Hackensack. In 1993, Jesus R. Galvis was elected
as the city’s first Latino councilman.

The next wave of immigration came from China, India, Hong Kong, and Japan. They
were followed by the most recent immigrants from Afghanistan, Armenia, and Syria.

The City of Hackensack continues to offer opportunity to the world’s immigrants,
Today, Hackensack, the second largest municipality in Bergen County, is a proud city of more than
37,000 residents representing more than 40 nationalities. Sixty-six percent of the population is Caucasian,
26 percent African-American, 15 percent Latino, 2.5 Asian or Pacific Islander, and 2.5 from other coun-
tries. As time goes on, new immigrants continue to arrive, assimilating and contributing to the great-
ness of the City of Hackensack and its promising future.
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Those who have contributed to the City of Hackensack are honored in
many ways — their names appear on street signs, public buildings, and memorials. The
Johnson Free Public Library and the Nellie K. Parker School are leading examples.

Roads are also a way to trace a city’s history. The majority of Hackensack
streets were named after property owners of the 1700s and 1800s who possessed great
influence. Among the many examples are such family names as Ackerson, Banta, Berry,
Blauvelt, Campbell, Clarendon, Clinton, Conklin, Demarest, Franklin, Frederick, Hamilton,
Hobart, Hopper, Huyler, Johnson, Kipp, Lincoln, McKinley, Moore, Morris, Newman, Poor,
Pulaski, Ricardo, Shafer, Taylor, Terhune, Vanderbeck, Van Olst, Van Orden, Voorhis,
Vreeland, and Zabriskie. More recent namings are Wysocki Place, after former Mayor
Kazmier Wysocki's father who organized Polish immigrants, and Reilly Court after former
City Manager Harold V. Reilly, Sr.

The parks are also named after prominent individuals. The Baldwin Park
was named after Spencer Baldwin who served as mayor from 1921 to 1924. Hackensack’s
Foschini Park was named after Mayor Paul J. Foschini, and the Trammell Housing
Authority Park after former Councilman James Trammell.

There’s also the Joseph J. Squillace Municipal Training Facility, a police
pistol range, named after the city’s 22-year city manager and the Padovano Adult Education
Center, named after the city’s longtime school superintendent, Carl E. Padovano.

Public housing communities also don prestigious names. There is Oratam
Court, after Chief Oratam, William Widnall Towers, after a 12-term congressman from
Hackensack, and Patrick A. DiZenzo Court, after the Hackensack Housing Authority’s first
chairman. Hillers School was named after an educator who devoted more than 40 years to
Hackensack schools. The Mellone-Mariniello Recreation Center honors Joseph Mellone
and Joseph Mariniello for their commitment to athletics in the City of Hackensack, par-
ticularly their role in starting the Troast Athletic Club.







ﬂe Hackensack Golf Club, which operated between 1899 and

1930, was Bergen County’s premier golf course. The 18-hole course was situated

between Hackensack’s Summit Avenue and Passaic Street, and Golf Place in

Maywood. The club house was located on Central Avenue. Photograph courtesy of George

M. Scudder.
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he first post office in the Village of Hackensack was established in 1797 and
operated out of Campbell’s Tavern, a stagecoach stop on the New York City to
Goshen to Albany line, which faced The Green. Serving as its postmaster was the tavern’s owner,
Archibald Campbell, who oversaw the twice-weekly deliveries that were carried by stagecoach to his
tavern. From 1798 to 1817, auxiliary postal service was rendered from taverns, living rooms in post-
masters’ homes, general stores, and three stores on Main Street.

Campbell’s Tavern continued to serve as the city’s main post office until 1834 when
David Demarest became postmaster, moving postal headquarters to the Mansion House. By 1851,
Hackensack’s was one of only five post offices in Bergen County.

Home delivery was established in Hackensack in 1890 with three carriers. Rural deliv-
ery began 11 years later with two carriers. In 1915, a branch post office was established in the north-
west corner of Fairmount Park.

Today, the Hackensack Post Office has evolved into a sectional facility serving 45 towns
in Bergen and Hudson counties, Mail is processed at the main office on State Street, six branches, and
an annex in South Hackensack. Forty-seven carriers provide delivery service to Hackensack
residents.

The Hackensack Gas Light Company was formed in 1861, occupying a site in the south
end of the city bordering the Hackensack River. Two of the founders were Garret Ackerson, county clerk
and wealthy investor, and Eben Winter, publisher of “The Bergen County Democrat.”

The manufacturing of gas began around 1867, and the following year it was used to
illuminate street lights for the first time on Main Street. Due to the objectionable odor of the gas, the
street lights at first were only lit sporadically. Several years later a cleaner, more pleasant smelling gas
was produced, paving the way for its usage in homes.

In 1895, the Hackensack Gas Light Company consolidated with the Hackensack Edison
Lighting Company to form the Hackensack Gas and Electric Company. Gas street lamps were soon
replaced with those powered by electricity. Four years later, the Hackensack Gas and Electric Company
was consolidated with other entities to form the Gas and Electric Company of Bergen County. In the
early 1900s, it was merged into the Public Service Electric and Gas Company (PSE&G) of Newark.

In 1841, Hackensack
Postmaster Henry
Banta sold to the
federal government
family-owned property
located on Banta Place
and State Street. In
1917, a post office was
erected on the site. Left:
Hackensack Post Office
cirea 1926, Right:
Public Service Electric
and Gas Company
(PSE&G) was formed in
1861 under the name of
Hackensack Gas Light
Company. Throughout
the next century and
beyond, the company
would be the force
behind the region’s
growth and expansion,
Today, PSE&G serves
more than 2 million
customers, Photograph
courtesy of PSE&G, Newark,
N.J. Post Office photograph
reprinted from the 1926

Hackensack Realtor's Book.









The original River Street site of the Hackensack Gas Light Company is still in oper-
ation today, after being used as a holder station until the 1950s and as a gas distribution facility until
1991. PSE&G currently maintains an electric substation facility at the location where 130 years ago
one of the first gas companies in New Jersey began.

The Hackensack Water Company traces its roots to the City of Hackensack following
the Civil War. As the city grew from a small village to a suburban town, it could no longer rely on back-
yard wells or cisterns as dependable water sources. Community leaders quickly chose the Hackensack
River as their water source, and petitioned the state Legislature for a charter to supply water service,
On February 24, 1869, the bill passed the state Senate and it was signed into law by the governor a
month later.

The company embarked on its first major expansion in 1831 after signing a confract
to supply the City of Hoboken. To fulfill its obligation, Hackensack Water installed a transmission
pipeline to the city, built a pump station at New Milford, and constructed a water tower and storage
reservoir in Weehawken. The Weehawken site housed the company’s headquarters until 1979, when
its main offices relocated to Harrington Park.

The early 1900s marked a period of exceptional growth for Hackensack Water. In 1900,
it purehased the outstanding stock of the Spring Valley Watexr Works and Supply Company — now
called the Spring Valley Water Company Incorporated — located in Rockland County, New York. It con-
structed a major reservoir in Oradell in 1902 and dedicated another one in Woodcliff Lake in 1905.

The company also took the first of a never-ending series of important steps to ensure
that the water reaching customers’ taps was of the highest quality possible, and began construction on
the first filter plant at New Milford. Hailed as one of the premier water plants in the nation, the



plant opened on June 25, 1906,

Innovative research by Hackensack Water in the 1920s produced a highly successful
water purification process that earned the company industry-wide recognition. More growth occurred
in the 1930s and 1940s as the company extended its services to the west, north, and south with acqui-
sitions and new franchises.

In 1957, the company broke ground in Clarkstown, New York, for the Lake DeForest
Reservoir, named for former Hackensack Water President Henry L. DeForest. A decade later the com-
pany opened its Lake Tappan Reservoir in River Vale, New Jersey.

In the 1980s, Hackensack Water and the North Jersey Wanague South Supply Project
began construction of the Wanaque South Project, & regional water project which is the cornerstone for
New Jersey’s water supply master plan. It was dedicated in 1987 and ensures Hackensack Water
customers a sufficient water supply well into the next century.

During a severe drought in 1981, ground was broken for the Oradell Aqueduct. This
first phase of the Wanaque South project is a 17-mile pipeline that crosses nine fowns in Bergen County.
In 1982, the company took a giant technological step by investigating automatic meter reading. It imple-
mented the technology in 1986 for its residential customers. Again leading the U.S. water industry in
achieving heightened water quality, the company in 1984 announced plans to treat its water with ozone.

Hackensack is proud to be recognized as the home of Hackensack Medical Center, a
regional teaching hospital that serves as the hub of health care in northern New Jersey and has the
largest number of admissions of any hospital in the state.

“The Great Blizzard of 1888” and the subsequent death of a railroad brakeman was
the impetus behind the founding of Hackensack Hospital. According to newspaper accounts at the time,
in March 1888 a blizzard buried most of the eastern United States including Bergen County. Unable
to find secure footing on the ice, a brakeman on the Susquehanna Railroad fell on the Hackensack plat-

Hackensack Medical
Center is the hub of
health care in northern
New Jersey, offering
sophisticated medical

treatment to patients

Left: the Edward E.









form, severely injuring his head. The death of the man was blamed in part on the delay in reaching the
nearest hospital in Paterson. Sympathy for his widow and child was strong, and the public promptly
called for the establishment of a hospital in Hackensack. In June of that year, a 10-room residence pur-
chased by an association of 24 civic leaders for $4,000 officially became known as Hackensack Hospital,
It consisted of 12 beds and & horse-drawn ambulance.

Today, Hackensack Medical Center is Bergen County’s largest employer, with staff
members caring for patients from the New Jersey and New York metropolitan region who come to
the medical center for sophisticated medical treatment and comprehensive outpatient services. The
Tomorrows Children’s Institute for Cancer and Blood Disorders (TCI) at Hackensack Medical Center
i3 one of New Jersey's largest and most comprehensive programs for children. The institute delivers
a vast number of services to children and their families ranging from inpatient care and outpatient
treatment, to psychosocial support services. When its $166 million expansion and renovation project
is completed in 1994, Hackensack Medical Center will contain 597 licensed beds and will have added
new adult acute-care and pediatric facilities to supplement its already specialized and diverse range of
SETvIces,

Bergen County’s first telephone system was installed in nearby Englewood in 1880 at
the home of R. E. Cochran by the Domestic Telegraph Company. Two years later, Hackensacl’s first
telephones were installed in the rear of George Hasbrouck’s Main Street sewing machine store. The 12
parties who bought telephone service were reached by ringing a machine that utilized a foot pedal sim-
ilar to that of a sewing machine. The first switchboard had the capacity to hold 25 lines. Within the
next 18 years the switchboard was moved to several locations on Main Street to accommodate the grow-
ing number of families who sought to use this modern convenience.

In 1900, the Hackensack telephone directory listed about 225 subscribers, and the
switchboard was replaced by a larger, more advanced model. John J. Finke, in whose Main Street office
the telephone system was located, turned over its management to the New York and New Jersey
Telephone Company. By 1915, 3,900 Hackensack customers used the city’s exchange. Today, there
are more than 20,000 subscribers.

The New York and New Jersey Telephone Company oversaw the growing demands

The first home of

the “The Bergen
Evening Record” was
a Hackensack store-
front on Main and
Mercer Streets, and
the first edition of the
newspaper was pub-
lished June 5, 1885.
Growing rapidly,
“The Record” moved
to several locations
until 1951 when it
moved to 150 River
Street. Photograph
conrtesy of The Record of

Hackeneack, NJ.
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of Hackensack’s customers throughout various corporate restructurings during the past several
decades. Today, the telephone syatem is owned and managed by the Bell Atlantic Company.

Until the late 1700s newspapers were scarce, with residents of Hackensack depend-
ing on verbal communication as their source of information. New Jersey Governor Wilhiam Livingston,
aware that the only printed news about the Revolutionary War was published in the Loyalists’ “New
York Gazette,” deemed that inhabitants of the state should be entitled to a more balanced account of
the war’s events. He asked the state’s printer, Isaac Collins, to publish a newspaper. “The New Jersey
Gazette” made its debut in 1777 and contained proclamations, resolutions, and other information about
the war. ;

The first newspaper to be printed and distributed in Hackensack was “The Hackensack
Newsman,” which was established in 1822 but folded the next year. At around the same time, “The
Hackensack Star and Bergen County Farmer” debuted. Published by Charles Troxell and H.J. Kingsland
in a building on Main Street, this paper survived only a few years.

By far the most important newspaper published in Hackensack is “The Record,” which
began in 1895 as “The Bergen Evening Record” at a Hackensack storefront on Main and Mercer Streets,
located next to a laundry. Growing rapidly, it moved to 181 Main Street in 1901, In 1922, the newspa-
per moved into the building at 295 Main Street that today is the Adult Learning Center of Bergen
Community College.

In 1920, the family name that is synonymous with “The Record” — Borg — began
its affiliation with the paper. That year, John Borg and a group of eight Wall Street financiers purchased
the newspaper. Since 1951, “The Record” has been located at 150 River Street in a plant that was
expanded in 1965 and again in 1982, Today, more than 1,000 people write, produce, and deliver the
newspaper. Under the continued stewardship of the Borg family, “The Record” operates from bureaus
in Trenton, Washington, D.C., and Wayne, and has a vast printing plant in Rockaway.

\ 4

One of the most
natable newspapers in
Hackensack was the
“The Bergen County
Democrat,” which was
published for 58 years.
Left: The newspaper’s
headguarters at 80 and

1896. But only “The
Record” would enjoy
long-term success.
Right: At n long table in
the newspaper’s cireu-

lation department,

“Bergen Democrat” photo-
graph reprinted from
Hackensack Mustrated.
Cigculation room photograph
courtesy of The Record of

Hackensack, N.J.









CHAPTER 6

IFEIN
HACKENSACK



hroughout the United States one can still tour historic inng and taverns that
dotted the cities and countrysides of Colonial America and learn about the peo-
ple who frequented them. More than merely a place to eat or spend the night while traveling, the
inns and taverns functioned as the social and political centers of town, serving as meeting sites, as
polling places, as stagecoach stops, and even as the first post office in Hackensack.

In 1668 the Legislature of New Jersey required that each township appoint innkeep-
ers and established prices for lodging, food, drink, and for the feeding and stabling of horses.

Among the prominent inns and taverns that once existed in Hackensack were: the
Doremus Tavern (a stagecoach terminal for the Hoboken line), the Hackensack House (where stage-
coaches departed for the toll road that went to Hoboken, Jersey City, and New York), Wulff’s Tavern
and the New Bridge Inn (stagecoach stops), and the Hackensack Tavern (site of the start of a stage-
coach line into Paterson, Ridgewood, Suffern, and points north),

One of the most famous inns in Hackensack was the Mansion House, the private res-
idence of Peter Zabriskie that occupied a site on Main Street and Washington Place. Built in 1751, it
served as the headquarters for General George Washington in 1776, when the Revolutionary War was
fought on Hackensack soil. In later years, it was enlarged and became a stop on the stagecoach line
from Albany to New York City. The Mansion House also was the birthplace of the Weehawk Bank in
1834 and several fraternal organizations. Over the objections of many, it was demolished in 1945,

Prior to the 1900s, entertainment in Hackensack consisted mainly of lectures, con-
certs, or other musical and dramatic offerings. One of the most popular entertainment meceas of the
time was the Hackensack Armory and Opera House, built in 1872 on the east side of State Street south
of Mercer Street. When not used by National Guardsmen for drills, it was home to the Hackensack
Dramatic Association, which presented theatrical productions on its imposing stage, The building also
hosted prize fights, operas, minstrel shows, singing groups, and graduation ceremonies. In 1901, it
burned to the ground. Two years later it was replaced by a new building, which was in use until after
World War II when it was razed.

In 1907, Hackensack’s first movie theater — the Edisonia — opened at 55 Main Street.
Advertisements proclaimed it a place of “delightful entertainment,” where a 40-minute show could be

As far back as the
mid-1800s, Hackensack
was Bergen County's
premier metropolis and
contained prestigious
taverns and inns.
Right: the Susquehanna
Hotel, cirea 1896,
located on Main Street
between Mercer Street
and the raflroad, was
visited by several
United States Pres-
idents. Bottom left:

The Office Hotel at 160
Main Street. Top left:
The Armory, Hack-
ensack’s foremost
gathering place, located
at 174 State Street,
offered opera, profes-
sional sporting events,
and theater produe-
tions. Office Hotel and the
Armory photographs courtesy
of George M. Seudder.
Susqmehanas Cafe reprinted

from Backensack Hhstrated,
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viewed for 10 cents. Within several years the Hudson, the Royal, the Bijou, and the Crowm Theaters
sprung up.

In 1913 the Lyric Theater opened on Main Street, hosting some of the most famous
vaudeville acts on the circuit, Although it suffered from small audiences during the Depression, it was
able to attract dramatic actors to perform plays on its luxurious stage for many years, The invention
of talking movies saw the opening of the Eureka, the Oritani, and the Fox Theaters in the 1930s. They
were some of the most recognizable landmarks in Hackensack for nearly half a century until declining
audiences cansed them to close. The Fox Theater, the 1ast of Hackensack’s to survive, was closed in
1985.

From the time of the earliest settlements in Hackensack, spiritual enrichment and
the activities that surround a religion have played a major role in the lives and development of the com-

, munity, Churches have served as more than places to worship; they have been the centers of life for

townships and their residents.

‘The Dutch, the first European settlers, brought Calvinism, the religion of their Reformed
Church, to the colonies. In 1686, 33 settlers met to form the combined congregations of Hackensack
and Acquackanonck (now Passaic/Clifton). During the next 10 years, they worshipped in a private
home south of the city limits of New Barbadoes Township and east of the current City of Hackensack.
They called their congregation the Dutch Reformed Church of Ackensack.

The congregation began to make plans for the erection of a church after Captain John
Berry, one of the Barbadian planters who was granted most of the land making up New Barbadoes,
gave two and three-quarter acres of his parcel to the chureh. The land was located on The Green, and

. when the congregation moved west to the site, they brought the name Ackensack with them.,

On November 15, 1696, the First Reformed Church was dedicated, making it the first
church in Hackensack and the second oldest Reformed Church in New Jersey. Because of its location,

Photographs of the Oritani
Field Club and The Kalamazoo
Band reprinted from
Hackensack Illustrated.
Photograph of Main Street,

{ Hackensack, courtesy of The

Reeord of Hackensack, N.J.
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it affectionately became known as the Old Church on the Green, a name that is still used today.

In 1728, the First Reformed Church was torn down, and a new one erected using the
stones of the original one. In 1791, a new structure — the one that exists today — was completed using
Colonial architecture. Throughout the next two centuries the church was medernized and enlarged
to its current size,

The first African-American church established in Hackensack was the Varick Memorial
African Methodist Episcopal Zion Church, founded sometime in the mid-1800s, Initially, the congre-
gation worshipped in the Hackensack Meeting House until it acquired its Atlantic Street property in
1864. Two years Jater the church was incorporated as the Olive Branch Colored Mission Number Three
of Hackensack. It became the first A M.E. Church in Hackensack in 1883, adopting its current name
in 1917. The trustees were John R. Dillard, John R. Issac, William A. Floyd, Richard Augustus, Thomas
B. James, Jessie H. Porter, John L. Lorick, Bruce Templeton, and James J, Love. The pastor was Rev.
I. B. Turner.

tling into its current

Throughout its 300-year history, the people of Hackensack have joined together ina
multitude of ways. Two organizations that hold special historical significance are the Oritani Field Club ~ Sit¢ on Main and
and the Hackensack Yacht Club. Passaic Streets in 1928
The Oritani Field Club, one of the most endearing and successful organizations in
Hackensack, was established in 1877 through the merger of two tennis clubs: the Pastime Lawn
Club and the Hackensack Lawn Tennis Club. In 1887, it purchased the Anderson Homestead, prop- porated as the YMCA of
erty that was located on Main Street and extended down to the Hackensack River. One of its first
projects was to build a toboggan slide and ice-skating pond. A baseball field, bowling alleys, four ten-
nis courts, and several billiard vooms followed in the ensuing year. Fhotorh o
On July 4, 1888, 5,000 people assembled on the grounds for a grand opening cele- George M. Scudder.
bration that included baseball and tennis matches, music by Drake’s Military Bardd, a drill by Hackensack’s
Company C, and a fireworks finale. Over the years, the Oritani Field Club has been the home of sev-

In 1964, it was re-incor-

Greater Bergen County.



Submarine Memorial

operated as a museum
and a memorial site,

enjoying thousands of

Submarine Memorial

Association,

eral championship semi-professional baseball teams and is recognized as a center of Hackensack's ath-
letic activities. Its clubhouse is one of Hackensack’s most treasured historic landmarks.

The Hackensack Yacht Club was established in the mid-1900s as the Hackensack
Field and Boat Club. It took its current name in 1908, setting up residence at a clubhouse at Shafer
Place on the Hackensack River. Incorporated in 1940, the Hackensack Yacht Club’s mission has been
“ promote and encourage boating and seamanship and to provide a program of social activities for its
members.”

Although it still occupies its original site on the Hackensack River, the majority of
today'’s Yacht Club members pilot their vessels along the Hudson River, Long Island Sound, and the
waterways of the New Jersey Shore. During summer months, the club's flag flies over the Alpine
Boat Basin in Palisades Interstate Park.

A city’s parks are often the sites of many memorable entertainment and cultural offer-
ings, or they serve as peaceful cases in the midst of a bustling metropolis. The City of Hackensack main-
tains a 76-acre park and recreational system that includes 15 city parks and the Submarine Ling for
the enjoyment of its citizens and their guests. In 1993, Hackensack’s Mayor and City Council began a
$1 million project to improve and upgrade the parks.
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Varick Memorial A M.E. Zion Church, 120 Atlantic Street

Calvary Baptist, 106 Central Avenue

First Baptist, 15 Conklin Place

Mount Olive Baptist, 260 Central Avenue

New Hope Baptist, First Street and Berdan Place
Trinity Baptist, 218 Passaic Street

Bethel Church of God in Christ, 192 High Street
Bethel Gospel Church of Christ, 204 James Street

First Congregational Church, 720 Summit Avenue

Christ Church Episcopal, 251 State Street
Saint Anthony of Padua Episcopal, Lodi and South Main Streets
Saint Cyprian’s Church, 269 First Street

Kingdom Hall, 506 Hamilton Place
Temple Beth-El, 280 Summit Avenue
Saint Mark’s Lutheran Church, Ross and Grand Avenues

Hackensack Methodist Church, Summit and Passaic Streets




Top, far left: The First
Reformed Church. Left

and bottom right:

Varick Memorial AM.E.

Zion Church circa 1940.
Bottom, far right:
Holy Trinity Church

circa 1896.

Pentacostal

Presbyterian

Salvation Army
Salvation Army, 89 State Street

Seventh-Day Adventist
Seventh-Day Adventist, 106 Euclid Avenue

Spiritual

Syrian
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A Crry
CELEBRATES!

B esidents and friends of Hackensack joined together throughout
its tricentennial year to remember, honor; and celebrate a community and its heritage.
Spearheaded by a committee of dedicated citizens, the 300th Anniversary Committee
conducted dozens of activities and events, leaving lasting memories in the hearts of
all those living in Hackensack.

On April 25, 1993, there was an art exhibit of the works of B. Spencer
Newman, a prominent Hackensack artist and architect who depicted life in Hackensack,



A CITY CELEBRATES!

and other well-known local artists including Maxine Banta and Harry Hubbard.
Another highlight was the 1993 school graduation ceremonies at which all
graduating classes received commemorative medallions of the anniver-

sary — something they will treasure for years to come. ® Fourth of July

weekend activities, called “Freedom Festival,” produced excitement for all.
July 3 included a big band concert featuring the Jimmy Dorsey Orchestra, a

gospel concert by the Garden State Gospel Music and Voice of Hackensack, the comedian Irwin
C. Watson, a community softhall game, and flea market. Independence Day offerings also included
circus acts, an oldies concert by The Duprees and The Dubs, and of course, a spectacular fire-
works display reminiscent of years past. = Residents also participated in city-wide block par-
ties throughout the month of August. Also in August, the U.S.S. Ling celebrated its 50-year
birthday in conjunction with the city by conducting a 24-hour ham radio marathon transmis-
sion from the submarine. = UNICO’s Columbus Day festivities honored the City of Hackensack’s
300th anniversary. Held at Columbus Park, the event offered a range of family

activities including music, a petting zoo, food, and children’s games. © On

October 17, 1993, students throughout Hackensack made a wonderful
contribution to the educational component of the city’s historical year.

)
\- Children from all public schools, three private schools, and the Holley




1695 — 1993

Center, a nonprofit shelter for children, made presentations on our city’s history to the public.
Highlighting the day’s activities was the start of the city’s special postal cancellation. A United
States postal truck was available to cancel envelopes for collectors and the public. = On October
3, 1993, local historians from the Hackensack Historical Society made a presentation on the
history of the schools, which began with the ringing of the city’s old school bells. ® On
November 13, 1993, African-American churches throughout the city con-

ducted a spectacular gospel concert, a grand event attended by hun-

dreds of people from all cultures and ethnic backgrounds. A com-

munity night was conducted December 1, 1993, at the Brendan
Byrne Arena during a New Jersey Nets professional bas-
ketball game. m The Mayor and City Council devoted an issue of the

city-wide newsletter to commemorating the 300-year anniversary of the city.

The newsletter offered a comprehensive chronology of the city’s evolution. “The

Record” and “North Jersey Newspapers” also published special editions celebrating Hackensack’s
300-year anniversary. ® The City of Hackensack is indebted to many individuals and busi-

nesses whose financial contributions made many events possible. Too many to name, please

accept our deepest gratitude for all your support.
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